# Certifying sustainability: opportunities and challenges for the cattle supply chain in Brazil

Working Paper No. 57

CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS)

Helena Nery Alves-Pinto Peter Newton Luís Fernando Guedes Pinto









# Certifying sustainability: opportunities and challenges for the cattle supply chain in Brazil

Working Paper No. 57

CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS)

Helena Nery Alves-Pinto Peter Newton Luís Fernando Guedes Pinto

#### **Correct citation:**

Alves-Pinto H, Newton P, Pinto L. 2013. Certifying sustainability: opportunities and challenges for the cattle supply chain in Brazil. CCAFS Working Paper no. 57. CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS). Copenhagen, Denmark. Available online at: www.ccafs.cgiar.org

Titles in this Working Paper series aim to disseminate interim climate change, agriculture and food security research and practices and stimulate feedback from the scientific community.

This document is published by the CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS), which is a strategic partnership of the CGIAR and the Earth System Science Partnership (ESSP). CCAFS is supported by the CGIAR Fund, the Danish International Development Agency (DANIDA), the Australian Government Overseas Aid Program (AusAid), Irish Aid, Environment Canada, Ministry of Foreign Affairs for the Netherlands, Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation (SDC), Instituto de Investigação Científica Tropical (IICT), UK Aid, and the European Union (EU). The Program is carried out with technical support from the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD).

#### **Contact:**

CCAFS Coordinating Unit - Faculty of Science, Department of Plant and Environmental Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Rolighedsvej 21, DK-1958 Frederiksberg C, Denmark. Tel: +45 35331046; Email: <u>ccafs@cgiar.org</u>

Creative Commons License

# 

This Working Paper is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution – NonCommercial–NoDerivs 3.0 Unported License.

Articles appearing in this publication may be freely quoted and reproduced provided the source is acknowledged. No use of this publication may be made for resale or other commercial purposes.

© 2013 CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS). CCAFS Working Paper no. 57

#### DISCLAIMER:

This Working Paper has been prepared as an output for the Low-Emissions Agriculture Theme under the CCAFS program and has not been peer reviewed. Any opinions stated herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the policies or opinions of CCAFS, donor agencies, or partners. All images remain the sole property of their source and may not be used for any purpose without written permission of the source.

The geographic designation employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of CCAFS concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

# Abstract

Up to 75% of deforestation in Brazil is associated with cattle ranching. To reduce forest conversion and increase sustainability in the cattle supply chain, government, private sector and civil society support interventions based on combinations of institutions and policies, incentives, and information and technology. In this paper we analyse the observed and expected interactions among the Sustainable Agriculture Network (SAN) Standard for Sustainable Cattle Production Systems certification program and other interventions associated with livestock and deforestation in Amazonia. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with cattle supply chain key actors, who identified the opportunities and barriers to the development and scaling of the SAN cattle program. The SAN cattle program has set a new high standard for sustainability, demonstrated the viability of certifying the cattle supply chain, and created new incentives and markets. However, the program has certified few farms to date. Other interventions are playing a critical role in incentivizing farms towards enhanced sustainability. Interventions that complement progress towards the SAN program include those that help producers to comply with forest laws or provide farmers with access to information and technology to improve their practices. Other interventions may constrain the program, for example by competing with the standards in the marketplace. Greater coordination among interventions may catalyze a more coherent, strategic approach to enhanced sustainability.

### Keywords

Agriculture; Amazonia; Certification; Deforestation; Greenhouse gas emissions; Incentives; Institutions; Interventions; Livestock; Sustainability.

# About the authors

**Helena Nery Alves-Pinto** is an environmental research consultant. She can be reached at Rua François Clovet, 99. J. Atibaia. 05451-140. São Paulo – SP, Brazil or <u>helenanap@gmail.com</u>

**Peter Newton** ia a postdoctoral research fellow at the University of Michigan. He can be reached at the International Forestry Resources and Institutions (IFRI) research network, School of Natural Resources and Environment, University of Michigan, 440 Church Street, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, USA or <u>newton.pete@gmail.com</u>

**Luís Fernando Guedes Pinto** is a certification manager at the Brazilian NGO Imaflora. He can be reached at Instituto de Manejo e Certificação Florestal e Agrícola - Imaflora. Estrada Chico Mendes, 185. CEP: 13426 420. Piracicaba – SP, Brazil or <u>luisfernando@imaflora.org</u>.

# Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Holly Gibbs, Marina Piatto, Rita Pereira, Nathalie Walker, and Lini Wollenberg for comments on a previous draft; all of the interviewees for their patience and insight; Melisa Ongun and Ben Chen for assistance with data-collection; Imaflora for collaboration and support; and Julianna White for editorial support. This article was written with funding from the European Union (EU), technical support from the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD). The research was supported by the CGIAR research program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS), and is part of a project by CCAFS and the University of Michigan on 'The governance of forest and agricultural landscapes'.

# Contents

Abstract	3
About the authors	4
Contents	6
1. Introduction	7
2. Methods	9
3. Cattle production in Brazil	12
3.1. Actors	12
3.2. Interventions	14
4. Results	21
4.1. Mechanisms of change	21
4.2. First-movers/pioneers	22
4.3. Factors enabling or constraining the SAN cattle certification program	24
5. Discussion	36
5.1. Opportunities and challenges	36
5.2. Scaling up	39
5.3. Environmental impacts	41
6. Conclusions	44
References	46

# 1. Introduction

Tropical deforestation and forest degradation are the second largest source of greenhouse gas emissions globally, accounting for 12% of  $CO_2$  emissions (Fearnside 2000, Smith et al. 2007, van der Werf et al. 2009). In Brazil, direct emissions from land-use change and deforestation represented 22% of the country's total  $CO_2$  emissions in 2010, following agriculture and ranching (35%) and energy (32%) (MCTI 2013). In 2010, 50.3% of emissions from land-use change were from the conversion of forests to pasture in the Amazon biome (MCTI 2013).

Brazil has one of the highest deforestation rates worldwide: between 2000 and 2010, more than 16.9 million hectares (ha) were deforested in the Amazon biome (IMAZON 2013). In total, more than 70 million ha of Amazonian forests have been cleared (INPE 2013). Cattle ranching has been widely cited as a major driver of land-use change and deforestation in Brazil (Nepstad et al. 2006, McAllister 2008, Gibbs et al. 2010, Cohn et al. 2011), and it is estimated that 75% of forest conversion in Brazil may be associated with this land use (Bustamante et al. 2012). Predicted human population growth and higher food demand are likely to increase pressure on remaining tropical forests (Wirsenius et al. 2010).

A large number of interventions designed to enhance the sustainability of agricultural commodity supply chains are being developed by government, private sector and civil society actors at a range of scales. Many of these interventions aim to reduce deforestation, either by increasing productivity through intensification or by restricting expansion into forest areas (Smith 2008, Cohn et al. 2011, Barreto 2012, Newton et al. 2013). These interventions can be characterized as being based on combinations of institutions, incentives, and information (Newton et al. 2013).

Voluntary certification programs are a prominent example of an intervention that aims to improve both sustainable production and consumption. The programs create market-based incentives for producers, processors and retailers to establish and comply with management practices that adhere to agreed social and environmental standards (Steering Committee 2012). By improving sustainability practices along the supply chain, deforestation and greenhouse gas emissions may be reduced (Bass 2001). Certification programs for forest and agricultural products have become more common in the last two decades, with the establishment of standards for timber by the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC); for palm oil by the Roundtable for Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO); and for crops such as coffee and bananas by the Rainforest Alliance (Bass 2001, Steering Committee 2012).

Voluntary certification programs combine both incentives (to producers) and information (to consumers). The benefits of certification programs to producers may include access to niche markets, receipt of price premiums, and increased production efficiencies. At the same time, consumers receive assurance of reduced environmental impacts relative to non-certified alternatives. However, many obstacles to the implementation and success of certification programs have been identified, including high transaction costs, difficulties in securing a product price premium, and challenges in assuring compliance (Bass 2001, Chen et al. 2010, Steering Committee 2012).

In 2010, the Sustainable Agriculture Network (SAN) consortium launched a standard for environmental and social responsibility in cattle production (SAN 2010). The SAN cattle

certification program aims to improve environmental sustainability in cattle production, with a specific focus on reducing deforestation. It is the first voluntary certification program in the world for cattle sustainability. Livestock production presents a series of unique challenges for certification, including issues concerning animal welfare and the movement of animals among farms at different stages of the production process. The SAN cattle program addresses these challenges through specific standards and certification options.

Interventions designed to halt deforestation and improve agricultural sustainability, such as the SAN cattle certification program, depend not only on the design of the intervention itself, but also – and critically – upon the ways in which the intervention interacts with the political and economic contexts in which it is implemented and with other interventions in the same sector. In effect, no intervention is implemented in isolation, and so the extent to which the SAN cattle certification program will reduce deforestation in Brazil depends on how the program is supported or constrained by contextual factors and by other interventions at the local or national level (Newton et al. 2013). There are numerous governance interventions being implemented concurrently within the cattle sector in Brazil, but the extent to which these interactions may be complementary, inhibitive, or neutral to the achievement of the SAN cattle certification program's objective of reduced deforestation remains unexplored. The principal aim of this paper is therefore to answer the question: How is the SAN cattle certification program's aim of reduced deforestation in Brazil supported and constrained by other governance interventions? This question is addressed through an in-depth institutional analysis of multiple governance interventions in Brazil, and their current and likely future influences on the SAN cattle certification program.

# 2. Methods

Information on environmental issues related to the cattle supply chain in the Brazilian context, the SAN cattle certification program, and other interventions was obtained through a review of published and grey literature and interviews with key actors. Interviews were conducted with all categories of key actors involved in the cattle production supply chain, and particularly with those working on environmental sustainability. Interviewees included individuals and organizations from the state sector (Municipal Secretariats, Ministry of Environment); civil society (non-governmental organizations – NGOs, certification bodies, and researchers); and private sector (producer associations, cattle farmers, slaughterhouses, retailers, restaurant chains, and the input industry). Interviews were conducted in person (n = 28 interviews) and by phone (n = 6 interviews). A total of 28 organizations and 46 people were interviewed. Some interviews were conducted with more than one interviewee at the same time: these were treated as a single interview (Table 1). Five of the 46 people were interviewed more than once.

Organization	Interviewee role in the organization	Organization sector
Civil society		
Imaflora	Agricultural Certification	Certification NGO
Imaflora	Executive Director	Certification NGO
Imaflora	Agricultural Certification	Certification NGO
ICV	Cattle and Agriculture Political-Economics Analyst	Environmental NGO
ICV	Executive Coordinator	Environmental NGO
ICV	Project Manager	Environmental NGO
ICV	Sustainable Municipality Coordinator	Environmental NGO
ICV	Sustainable Cattle Analyst	Environmental NGO
Amigos da Terra	Researcher	Environmental NGO
Aliança da Terra	Environmental Analyst	Socio-environmental NGO
Aliança da Terra	Project Manager	Socio-environmental NGO
WWF	Conservation Program Analyst	Environmental NGO
The Nature Conservancy	Sustainable Harvests Coordinator	Environmental NGO
IPAM	Researcher	Environmental NGO and Research Institute
FEA & Imaflora	Postdoctoral researcher & FSC auditor	Economics Department - University of São Paulo & Certification NGO
Private sector		
Fazendas São Marcelo	Technical Manager	SAN cattle program certified farm
Fazendas São Marcelo	Manager	SAN cattle program certified farm

Table 1.	Individuals and organizations interviewed about sustainability in the cattle
supply c	hain in Brazil

Fazendas São Marcelo	Human Resources Analyst	SAN cattle program certified farm
Agropecuária Sta. Carmem	Producer	Non-certified farm
-	Producer	Non-certified farm
Fazenda Salto das Nuvens	Producer	Non-certified farm
Producers Syndicate - Alta Floresta	President	Non-certified farm
AC Agromercantil	President of Animal Protein Sector	Non-certified farm
Marfrig	Sustainability Sector	Slaughterhouse
Marfrig	Quality Guarantee	Slaughterhouse
Marfrig	Marfrig Club	Slaughterhouse
Marfrig	Marfrig Club	Slaughterhouse
Marfrig	Sustainability Supervisor	Slaughterhouse
JBS	Sustainability Director	Slaughterhouse
Carrefour	-	Retailer
Wal-Mart	Sustainability Director	Retailer
Wal-Mart	Sustainability Manager	Retailer
McDonalds	Latin America Protein Director	Restaurant chain
Beef Exporters Association - ABIEC	Executive Director	Exporter association
Beef Exporters Association - ABIEC	Technical Assistant	Exporter association
Dow	Marketing Specialist Range and Pastures	Agro-chemicals industry
Dow	Institutional Relations	Agro-chemicals industry
GTPS	Executive Coordinator	Brazilian Roundtable for Sustainable Beef
Producers Association of MT (Acrimat)	Superintendent	Producer association
Producers Association of MT (Acrimat)	Director	Producer association
State sector		
MMA	Project Manager	Ministry of Environment
ІВАМА	-	Brazilian Institute of Environment and Renewable Natural Resources
Embrapa	Researcher	Research institute
SAE	Scientific Advisor	Strategic issues department
Environment Secretary - Alta Floresta	-	Municipal Environmental Secretary
Environment Secretary - Alta Floresta	-	Municipal Environmental Secretary

In-person interviews were conducted in the state of São Paulo (SP), in and around the cities of São Paulo and Piracicaba, and in the state of Mato Grosso (MT), in and around the cities of Cuiabá, Tangará da Serra, Alta Floresta and Sinop (Fig. 1). Phone interviews were used to reach actors in the national capital of Brasilia. Interviews were conducted between June and August 2013 by HNAP, with assistance from PN and two field assistants.



# Figure 1. Cattle farms certified by the Sustainable Agriculture Network (SAN) cattle program certification standard and the location of interviews and farm visits conducted during this study

Initially, key organizations concerned with cattle supply chain sustainability were contacted, including the *Instituto Centro de Vida* (ICV), Imaflora, *Associação dos criadores de Mato Grosso* (Acrimat) and the *Grupo de Trabalho da Pecuária Sustentável* (Working Group on Sustainable Beef – GTPS). Contacts in these organizations helped to identify other relevant actors. Four farms were visited: one SAN-certified farm near Tangará da Serra and three non-certified farms near Alta Floresta (Fig. 1). A visit was also made to a certified slaughterhouse in Tangará da Serra.

Interviews were semi-structured, and comprised questions about each individual or organization's: a) involvement in and knowledge of interventions to enhance sustainability and reduce deforestation in the cattle supply chain; b) opinions about challenges and possible solutions in the cattle supply chain; c) opinions about certification in general, and the SAN

cattle program in particular, including incentives for and barriers to the implementation and development of the program. Where possible, factual information from each actor was corroborated and verified by triangulation with the responses of other actors.

# 3. Cattle production in Brazil

Brazil is the largest commercial beef producing country globally, with more than 210 million head (IBGE 2013). Approximately 40 million head of cattle are slaughtered each year, most of which are consumed domestically (ABIEC 2012). Between 2005 and 2009, an average of 22.0% of the total national beef production was exported (FAOSTAT 2013).

Between 1996 and 2012 the Brazilian cattle herd increased 33.5% from 158 million head in 1996 to almost 211 million head in 2012 (IBGE 2013), mainly driven by cheap land prices, increasing road access, low production maintenance costs, and low financial risks (Smeraldi and May 2008, Barreto 2012). The cattle herd size increased most dramatically in the Amazon biome, and the Amazonian states of MT, Rondônia (RO) and Pará (PA) have the largest herds. For example, there were 28 million head in the state of MT in 2012, an increase of 84.5% since 1996 (IBGE 2013).

Brazil contains more than 172 million ha of pasture, of which more than 10% are degraded (IBGE 2006). Further, 15% (11 million ha) of the total deforested area in Amazonia is either abandoned or contains very few cattle (Embrapa and INPE 201a). Cattle production in the region is predominantly based on extensive pasture systems and is characterized by very low cattle densities, with an average of 1.2 heads per ha (ABIEC 2012).

# 3.1. Actors

The cattle supply chain involves multiple actors, including the private sector (producers, slaughterhouses, and retailers who are directly involved in the supply chain), and the state (e.g. government agencies) and civil society (e.g. NGOs), who are both more peripheral. Here, we review the role of each of these actors in the supply chain.

## 3.1.1 Private sector

Around 30% of all rural properties in Brazil are involved in cattle ranching. Cattle birth, growth, and fattening (IBGE 2006) can either occur on the same farm or be conducted by different producers (Cezar et al 2005). In Brazil, 40.8% of the herd is raised on farms that engage in all of these stages of cattle production (IBGE 2006).

There are approximately 1.2 million cattle ranchers in Brazil (IBGE 2006), ranging from small subsistence ranchers who employ traditional non-mechanized practices to very large mechanized farms. Small producers are the most numerous, but own only 18.6% of the productive cattle land (IBGE 2006). Many have little or no access to infrastructure, machinery, or information. In contrast, a small number of large ranchers own the majority of the productive pasture lands and a large proportion of the country's herd (IBGE 2006). They generally have better access to technical assistance and infrastructure. Approximately 46% of the country's herd is in properties with more than 500 ha of pasture (IBGE 2006).

Table 2. The structure of livestock production properties in Brazil, divided into four property size categories. Data: IBGE 2006.

Property size (ha)	No. of properties in Brazil	% of all properties in Brazil	% of total area in Brazil
<100	1,883,622	86.30	18.6
100 - 500	232,547	10.7	23.4
500 - 1,000	35,513	1.6	11.9
>1,000	30,879	1.4	46.1
Total	2,182,561	100.0	100.0

The three biggest slaughterhouses in Brazil – Marfrig, JBS, and Minerva – process a large proportion of the total cattle. In the state of MT a single slaughterhouse – JBS – is responsible for almost 50% of all the beef processed (IMEA 2011). These large slaughterhouses grew from 2005 onwards, and particularly during the 2008 financial crisis when they expanded by buying several big and medium companies that were severely affected by the crisis (Macedo and Lima 2011).

Small butcheries were formerly the most common sellers of domestic beef, but these have been increasingly replaced by large retailers such as supermarkets. The largest beef retailer groups in Brazil are *Grupo Pão de Açucar*, Carrefour, and Wal-Mart (ABRAS 2013).

## 3.1.2 State sector

Government agencies influence the cattle supply chain by developing or supporting projects and policies to improve cattle ranching practices and sustainability. The government agencies most closely involved in the cattle sector and their responsibilities are:

- The *Ministério da Agricultura, Pecuária e Abastecimento* (Ministry of Agriculture, Cattle and Provision MAPA) is responsible for agriculture and ranching policy management.
- The *Ministério do Meio Ambiente* (Environmental Ministry MMA) promotes the adoption of principles and criteria for the development of strategies related to environmental protection, sustainable use of natural resources, and sustainable development.
- The Instituto Brasileiro do Meio Ambiente e Recursos Naturais (Brazilian Institute of Environment and Renewable Natural Resources – IBAMA) is part of the MMA and controls, monitors and enforces national environmental legislation.
- The Secretaria de Assuntos Estratégicos (Strategic Issues Department SAE) advises the federal government on policies related to national development.
- The *Ministério Público* (Public Prosecutor MPF) aims to promote societal justice, democracy and rights.
- The Environment Secretariats are the municipal representatives of the Environment Ministry.
- And the *Empresa Brasileira de Pesquisa Agropecuária* (Brazilian Enterprise for Agricultural Research – EMBRAPA) is the research institute for agriculture and ranching.

## 3.1.3 Civil society

Similar to state agencies, civil society actors support projects to improve sustainability, as well as campaign and conduct research on issues relevant to cattle production. NGOs involved in the Brazilian cattle sector include *Amigos da Terra-Amazônia Brasileira, Aliança da Terra, Instituto de Pesquisa Ambiental da Amazônia* (Amazon Environmental Research Institute – IPAM), the National Wildlife Federation (NWF), The Nature Conservancy (TNC), and the World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF). In addition, *the Grupo de Trabalho da Pecuária Sustentável* (GTPS) is an organization created in 2007 that is composed of producers, retailers, government, and NGOs. Finally, the *Instituto de Manejo e Certificação Florestal e Agrícola* (Forest and Agriculture Certification and Management Institute – Imaflora) is the NGO that represents SAN in Brazil and is responsible for the implementation and auditing of all SAN programs.

## 3.2. Interventions

A large number of governance interventions that aim to improve the sustainability of the cattle supply chain in Brazil have been developed and implemented by the private sector, state sector and civil society. These interventions are based on different combinations of institutions and policies, incentives and information and technology (Newton et al. 2013), and vary widely in their objectives, mechanisms by which they move towards those objectives, and their spatial and temporal scope. The interventions include industry standards, good agricultural practices, infrastructure, technical assistance, information, monitoring, traceability, land registry, loans and voluntary certification. They are outlined in Figure 2 and Table 3 below.



Figure 2. Interventions developed in Brazil to reduce deforestation and increase sustainability in the cattle supply chain, based on combinations of institutions, incentives and information, and developed by different sectors of actors

Table 3. Interventions that contribute either directly or indirectly to the sustainability of the cattle supply chain in Brazil. Interventions may affect the development and scaling of the SAN cattle program either positively (+), negatively (-) or in both ways (+/-).

Program name	Implementing organization	Program description	Spatial scope	Year begun	Effect on SAN cattle program	Ref- er- ence
Private sector intervention	<u>s</u>					
Garantia de Origem	Carrefour	Promotes standards of sustainability (animal welfare, environment, and social) that can be adopted by producers. Cattle products are sold	Retailers, national	1999	(+/-)	1, 2
Taeq	Pão de Açucar	under the program`s label, and information on their origin is available to consumers. <i>Marfrig Club</i> is divided in five different levels of	Retailers, national	2006	(+)	3
Marfrig Club	Marfrig	sustainability, of which the highest level producers receive a price premium.	Retailers, national	2010	(+/-)	4, 5
Livestock Pact	Wal-Mart	Monitoring systems ensure that products are not from suppliers that practice illegal activities in the value chain, such as deforestation.	Retailers, national	2014	(+)	6
-	McDonalds	McDonalds does not buy any beef from cows that have been raised in the Amazon biome at any stage in their life-cycle.	Retailers, national	-		Inter- view
<u>Civil-society interventions</u>						
Low Carbon Ranching (PIBC)	Instituto Centro de Vida (ICV)	Promotes good agricultural practices by providing information, technical assistance, and funding to increase intensification. Projects are developed in Demonstration Units (DUs) on voluntary farms, which already are in the Environmental Rural Registry (CAR). Results from these units are used for disseminating knowledge and training to other producers.	Demonstration Units (DUs) in farms, in Alta Floresta - MT	2012	(+)	7
Socio-environmental Registry (CCS)	Aliança da Terra	Utilizing an environmental diagnosis with respect to the Forest Code, CCS provides guidelines to improve good agricultural practices.	Individual farms	2004	(+)	8

Program name	Implementing organization	Program description	Spatial scope	Year begun	Effect on SAN cattle program	Ref- er- ence
Cattle ranching intensification	IPAM	Provides cost-benefit analysis for intensification under different scenarios. The results will help define policies and priority areas for intensification.	Farms in AC and MT	2010	(+)	9
SAN cattle program	Imaflora, SAN, Rainforest Alliance	This is a third-party certification standard for the cattle supply chain.	National	2012	-	25
Beef moratoria	Greenpeace	Slaughterhouses and retailers agree not to buy cattle from illegally deforested properties.	Amazon biome	2004	(+)	10
Government interventions						
Green Municipalities Program	Pará State Government	As per Low Carbon Ranching (PIBC).	DUs in farms, in PA	2008	(+)	11
Olhos d`água	Environment Secretary - Alta Floresta	As per Low Carbon Ranching (PIBC).	DUs in farms, in Alta Floresta - MT	2011	(+)	Intervi ew
Good Agricultural Practices	Embrapa	Guidelines and criteria for good agriculture practices for cattle ranchers.	Farms, national	2005	(+)	12
Forest Code	Environment Ministry (MMA)	Environmental legislation regarding forests inside private properties, restructured in 2012.	Farms, national	1934	(+/-)	13
Conduct Adjustment Term (TAC)	Public Prosecutor (MPF)	Slaughterhouses assured they would not buy cattle associated with illegal practices, such as from IBAMA-embargoed areas or properties using slave-labor.	Slaughterhouses, national	2009	(+)	14

Program name	Implementing organization	Program description	Spatial scope	Year begun	Effect on SAN cattle program	Ref- er- ence
Plan for the prevention and control of Amazon deforestation (PPCDAm)	MMA	Territorial planning for deforestation control.	Farms, Amazon biome	2004	(+)	15
Embargoed areas	Ibama	Non-compliant properties are embargoed and listed in a publicly- available registry.	Farms, national	2007	(+)	16
Territorial Intelligence Centre (NIT)	SAE-MAPA	Monitoring based on satellite imagery. Information on land diagnosis will help to determine the allocation of intensification and other programs.	Farms, national	2012	(+)	10
Environmental Rural Registry (CAR)	ММА	Spatial registry of rural properties, with information on environmental data with respect to the Forest Code. The registry is available for public access, and all properties must have it before 2015.	Farms, national	2012	(+/-)	17
Sisbov	МАРА	A traceability system required for all producers who want to export beef to the European Union.	Farms & slaughterhouses, national	2006	(+)	18
Low Carbon Agriculture (ABC)	МАРА	Loans to producers interested in developing good agricultural practices.	Farms, national	2010	(+/-)	19
Centre-West Plan (FCO)	Central Bank	The ABC program is part of the National Plan for Climate Change.	Farms, central- west	1989	(+/-)	20
PRODES	INPE, MCT	Satellite monitoring system for deforestation. The data is publicly available.	Amazon biome	2002	(+)	21

Program name	Implementing organization	Program description	Spatial scope	Year begun	Effect on SAN cattle program	Ref- er- ence
Combined private sector, c	ivil society and govern	ment interventions				
Sustainable Beef	Wal-Mart, TNC, Marfrig	As per Low Carbon Ranching (PICB)	DUs in farms, in São Félix do Xingu - PA	2013	(+)	22
Sustainable Ranching in Practice (PSP)	GTPS	As per Low Carbon Ranching (PICB)	DUs in farms, in multiple locations	2013	(+)	23
Organic Beef	WWF, IBD, JBS	As per SAN cattle program	Farms, national	2003	(+)	24

References:		
1. DNV Business Assurance 2013	12. Embrapa 2011	23. GTPS 2013b
2. Carrefour 2010	13. Forest Code 2012	24. ABPO 2013
3. GPA 2013	14. MPF 2009	25. SAN 2010
4. Marfrig 2013a	15. MMA 2013	
5. Marfrig 2013b	16. ICMBio 2013	
6. Wal-Mart Brasil 2013	17. CAR 2013	
7. ICV 2013	18. MAPA 2006	
8. Aliança da Terra 2009	19. Observatório do Plano ABC 2013	
9. D. Nepstad et al. 2012	20. FCO 2013	
10. GTPS 2013a	21. Prodes 2013	
11. Programa Municípios Verdes 2013	22. TNC 2013	

#### 3.2.1. SAN standard for sustainable cattle production systems

SAN is a certification consortium that has developed standards to promote social and environmental sustainability in agricultural supply chains since 1992 by integrating sustainable production with biodiversity conservation, social responsibility, and environmental wellbeing (SAN 2010). The main objective of the network is to reduce tropical deforestation and increase sustainability by setting environmental, social, and welfare standards for agricultural supply chains (SAN 2010). The network is a multi-stakeholder partnership of nine organizations in eight countries. More than 2.7 million ha of land in 43 countries operate under the SAN standards, with more than 60 different agricultural products labeled under the Rainforest Alliance (RA) certification trademark (SAN 2013).

The SAN Standard for Sustainable Cattle Production Systems was developed by the SAN and the *Centro Agronómico Tropical de Investigación y Enseñanza* (CATIE), with technical support from experts from the *Grupo Ganadería y Manejo del Medio Ambiente* (Livestock and Environmental Management Group – GAMMA). The standard was launched in July 2010 following a 34-country public consultation conducted in line with the ISEAL Alliance Code of Good Practice for Setting Social and Environmental Standards (SAN 2010). The ISEAL Alliance is an NGO that aims to strengthen sustainability standards by setting codes of good practices as a guideline for other standard-setting bodies. A new public consultation to review the SAN cattle program standards solicited a first round of comments between April and June 2013, and the second between October and November 2013.

The SAN cattle program is the first initiative in the world to comprehensively certify sustainable cattle production, accounting not only for animal welfare and product quality but also for the social and environmental aspects of cattle production. Innovatively, it includes standards that involve the entire chain of custody, which increase the traceability of the product through the entire supply chain. Moreover, it is considered a credible standard due to its strict criteria, which were developed by a third-party certification body rather than by an industry roundtable (SAN 2010, Golan et al 2001, Hatanaka et al 2005).

The SAN cattle standard is divided into 15 principles and 136 criteria, comprised of the 10 existing SAN principles for agriculture (*Sustainable Agriculture Standard*) and five principles that were developed specifically for the cattle industry. The 15 principles relate to

management systems, ecosystem conservation, wildlife protection, water conservation, working conditions, occupational health, community relations, integrated crop management, soil conservation, integrated waste management, integrated cattle management systems, sustainable range and pasture management, animal welfare, and reducing carbon footprints. Each of these standards has multiple criteria.

The certification process involves a full initial certification audit and two subsequent annual audits. After three years, the process starts again with another full audit. Producers may opt to have a diagnostic visit before the first full audit to coarsely assess where the farm is positioned in relation to the criteria. To become certified, farms have to comply with a) 80% of all the criteria, b) at least 50% of the criteria in each principle and c) 22 critical criteria (with which the farms have to completely comply).

Different sets of standards apply to different stakeholders in the cattle supply chain. Producers are certified for the *Standard for Sustainable Cattle Production Systems* with a subset of standards that apply to farms where animals are sourced. Slaughterhouses are certified according to the *Chain of Custody Standard*. Finally, the *Group Certification Standard* adds 23 criteria that aim to improve and maintain a management system for group administrators. To receive this certification, all member farms of a group administrator have to comply with the SAN agricultural and cattle standards and the 23 group criteria. A representative sample of farms is audited and if one farm does not comply, none is awarded the certification (SAN 2010). We refer to the three standards (*Standard for Sustainable Cattle Production Systems*, *Chain of Custody Standard* and *Group Certification Standard*) as the 'SAN cattle program'.

In 2012, three farms in Amazonia were certified for the *Standard for Sustainable Cattle Production Systems: Fazendas São Marcelo* (two properties under a single certificate) and *Fazenda Água Sadia*, both in Brazil, and *El Guapinol* in Guatemala. The farms *Fazendas São Marcelo* and *Fazenda Água Sadia* are owned by the JD group and are hereafter called *Fazendas São Marcelo* (FSM). FSM achieved the *Group Certification Standard* in 2013 (*Fazendas São Marcelo's Juruena* unit for cattle birth; *Fazendas São Marcelo Tangará da Serra* unit for growth and fattening; and *Fazenda Água Sadia* also for growth and fattening). In addition, one factory of the slaughterhouse Marfrig became the first and only abattoir globally to be certified with the *Chain of Custody Standard* in 2012. The supermarket

Carrefour began selling SAN-certified beef under the RA label in Brazil in 2013. In addition to FSM, one other farm is in the process of becoming certified as of November 2013.

# 4. Results

Most actors consider the environmental and social criteria with which cattle producers must comply in order to achieve certification under the SAN cattle program to be a very high benchmark for sustainability. There is broad agreement that SAN certification genuinely reflects a high level of sustainability in multiple dimensions by any farm that achieves it. This is in contrast with some commodity certification programs that have been critiqued for setting criteria that are less stringent and which enhance sustainability to a lesser extent, such as the Roundtable for Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO) (Greenpeace 2013).

A strict set of criteria means that concerned actors are more likely to have greater confidence that SAN-certified farms have achieved a meaningful sustainability standard. However, the changes in practice needed to meet the expectations of the SAN cattle program are beyond the capacity of a large majority of cattle producers in Brazil. Key barriers include low levels of compliance with environmental legislation (a pre-requisite for certification); high costs of infrastructure such as fences, piping and fertilizers needed to comply with the SAN cattle standards; and poor access to information and assistance with respect to pasture management, production control, and forest restoration. These barriers present challenges particularly to small and medium ranchers, thus prohibiting many cattle producers from participating in the SAN cattle program, at least in the short term. For these reasons, some actors have critiqued the SAN program as having limited relevance in the Brazilian cattle supply chain at this stage.

### 4.1. Mechanisms of change

Direct recruitment of producers into the program is only one route to achieving impact and is only one metric of success. Proponents of the SAN cattle program argue that the development and implementation of a third-party cattle certification program can have multiple additional benefits, including:

1. Re-defining sustainability for the cattle supply chain by 'raising the bar' and setting a higher benchmark for the rest of the supply chain to aspire to;

- 2. Demonstrating a proof-of-concept that certification of the cattle industry is viable; and
- 3. Altering the wider context of cattle production by generating new incentives and opportunities for enhanced sustainability across the sector (Drigo 2013).

Here, we briefly discuss each of these three mechanisms of change.

First, the SAN cattle standards set a higher standard for sustainability than any other existing law or incentive mechanism in Brazil. This standard is widely perceived as a credible and legitimate one because the experiences of Imaflora, SAN and RA in working with SAN certification for other agricultural products mean that they are well-established and wellrespected as representing meaningful levels of sustainability.

Second, the SAN cattle program has demonstrated that the certification of the cattle supply chain is likely to be viable, at least at a small scale. The program has already certified farms within the Amazon biome, as well as one slaughterhouse. Further, actors at every stage of the supply chain have been certified, from the farm that initially rears young cows, to the farm that fattens and sells the cows for slaughter, to the slaughterhouse. Certified beef is being sold to consumers in Brazilian supermarkets. None of these things were happening before 2010, so the SAN cattle program has already made some progress by recruiting a set of key actors that complement each other in the production process. Just the demonstration that these actions are possible and that certified sustainable beef is being produced and sold could have an impact on how actors view sustainability within the cattle supply chain in Brazil.

Finally, the SAN cattle program could change the wider context of cattle production by altering the suite of incentives and barriers to improved sustainability. For example, the program has helped to establish a small but expanding market for certified beef. Other retailers are showing interest in buying SAN-certified beef. If the contracts being discussed come to fruition, there will be an urgent imperative to certify more farms to supply that demand.

## 4.2. First-movers/pioneers

Imaflora initially targeted a set of key actors likely to be motivated and able to engage with the program in its early stages to help launch the program and get it off the ground. These 'pioneers' or 'first-movers' were defined as those whose production and processing practices were already closest to the standards demanded by the SAN cattle program, and who had

already demonstrated an interest in and commitment to enhanced sustainability. As a consequence, these actors had to make few changes to become certified. The farm Fazenda São Marcelo and the slaughterhouse Marfrig matched these criteria and were thus approached by Imaflora in the early stages of program implementation. Both actors needed to make changes to meet the certification criteria, but a greater effort is required by farmers to achieve the *Standard for Sustainable Cattle Production Systems* than is required by slaughterhouses to comply with the *Chain of Custody Standard*. The launch of the program and establishment of a complete certified supply chain was additionally facilitated by the existing close relationship between FSM and Carrefour. This strategy of selecting the most appropriate first-movers was borne from the experiences of SAN with multiple other agricultural products.

Pioneer actors that had already become certified (i.e. FSM and Marfrig) or that were in the process of becoming certified reported multiple benefits from gaining certification, which were mainly non-financial benefits and indirect financial benefits, rather than direct financial benefits. These benefits included:

a) Increased market access and control of a new market niche. FSM is one of the few producers in Brazil that has the financial security of a volume and price contract predetermined with a slaughterhouse. Competing slaughterhouses are now also interested in buying certified cattle from FSM. Meanwhile, Marfrig has started a new business line exporting certified leather to Gucci. Marfrig also stated that SAN certification gave their beef more credibility with some international buyers: during the export process, buyers seemed to require less information about slaughterhouse procedures after Marfrig had achieved the SAN cattle certification. Carrefour is the only retailer for SAN-certified beef in Brazil and so monopolizes the market for this new niche product. Further, the market for certified beef is expanding, and certified actors are well positioned to capitalize on this expansion. For example, the British retailer Tesco is interested in importing SAN-certified corned beef directly from Marfrig.

#### b) Opportunities to expand companies' existing commitments to Corporate Social

**Responsibility** (**CSR**). Several of the certified actors had a strong philosophy of sustainability before the development of the SAN cattle program. For example, FSM had a history of sustainable production practices, had previously been certified as an organic farm, and had a culture of pioneering and innovation. According to the farm manager, "getting the SAN cattle

certification was a natural step in our process of continuous improvement" to achieve higherquality and more sustainable products, as well as better farm management. Marfrig also had similar sustainability philosophies.

**c**) **Brand recognition and visibility.** Becoming certified significantly increased visibility for the pioneer farms, including publicity in high-impact popular magazines, on TV, and on news websites. Certification also earned industry-wide recognition for the pioneers.

d) Opportunities to improve the farms' Good Agricultural Practices (GAP) and

**management systems**. GAP is a package of practices, such as crop rotation and water management, which can be adopted to help improve cattle quality and health and economic output (Poisot et al. 2004). GAP and management practices introduced to achieve SAN cattle certification increased production efficiency and reduced operating costs, resulting in financial returns. FSM reported that the audits were very useful in helping them to improve agricultural practices and continuously improve management.

# 4.3. Factors enabling or constraining the SAN cattle certification program

The SAN cattle program is being developed and implemented in a complex cultural, social, economic and political context. A suite of other supply chain interventions is operating within the cattle sector, many of which are likely to affect or interact with the SAN cattle program. The implementation of the SAN cattle program could be complemented, catalyzed or facilitated by these contextual factors and additional interventions, or it could be constrained or inhibited by them. Here we describe the main contextual factors and interventions relevant to the SAN cattle program and to sustainability in the cattle supply chain, and we outline the opportunities and challenges they present.

#### 4.3.1 Cultural and historical context

The context in which Brazilian Amazonia was colonized during the 1960s resulted in a system of cattle ranching based on low-cost management and expansion to new areas. Some of the characteristics originating from this colonization process continue to shape the way in which the cattle supply chain is organized.

First, many properties are not yet compliant with Brazilian environmental legislation (the Forest Code, described below), nor have formal land property registration.

Second, even producers that are compliant with the Forest Code often have little formal control of their production practices, such as knowledge of the amount of feed given to the cattle or even the number of heads slaughtered each year. Poor control makes it more difficult for producers to predict whether a given investment or change in practice will result in higher revenues or whether to change strategy in the event of negative outcomes. A farmer who had improved his production control commented, "I wasn`t used to writing down anything, not even the number of heads I sold. Now I know where I spend the most money and can control it better".

Third, even ranchers that wish to change their production processes have little technical knowledge about which practices are the best for their specific case. Some ranchers practice pasture management based on techniques taught by their grandparents, but these are not necessarily the most effective or efficient. In some cases, producers have the knowledge to improve their processes, but don't have sufficient capital to invest in such initiatives. Smallholders are often the producers who have the least access to technical assistance (IBGE 2006).

Finally, a strong culture governs ranchers' production processes, inherited from families who have practiced cattle ranching in the same manner for multiple generations. As a result, many ranchers are unwilling to change their production processes and are averse to new initiatives that present any risks (Smeraldi and May 2009, Acrimat 2012). It is very difficult to convince ranchers that practices need to be changed, particularly since there has always been demand for their cattle, including those raised in Amazonia. On the other hand, many civil society, government, and private sector initiatives have been operating for several years, and so producers are starting to accept some suggestions and aid from these actors.

#### 4.3.2 Market and financial context

Certification is often associated with price premium incentives to supply chain actors. Though SAN-certified beef is sold for slightly higher prices when compared to uncertified equivalents, there is little available information about the value of the premium that is received by each actor in the chain. Thus far, producers claim that it has not sufficiently increased their revenues. As a consequence, many actors who could become certified (i.e. whose current practices are within reach of SAN sustainability standards) but who have not yet done so, are reluctant to engage with the program without a guarantee that there will be

near-term financial returns. Furthermore, producers complain that revenues from the premium are spread unevenly along the supply chain, with retailers and slaughterhouses receiving the largest proportions. Similar challenges have been documented in certification programs for other commodities, such as timber (Walker et al. 2013c). However, SAN-certified meat only began to be sold in June 2013, so it is difficult to estimate future trends in the value of price premiums based on such little market experience.

A second financial barrier to certification is the lack of a well-developed market for certified beef in Brazil. This is partly because the product has only recently become available, and partly because there has historically been little demand from Brazilian consumers for sustainably produced food. However, environmental concerns are growing, and there is evidence that consumers are increasingly willing to pay more for environmentally differentiated products (Hall 2012). However, willingness to pay is significantly associated with income and education (Hall 2012), and there may be a gap between willingness to pay and the reality of doing so (Barcellos et al. 2011). Most consumers choose their meat based on price and quality (especially tenderness and fat content), and many do not have a good understanding of what the SAN label signifies. Without greater demand, SAN-certified beef will likely only be sold in niche markets, and the potential to scale up could be constrained.

#### 4.3.3 Supply chain complexities

The complexity of the cattle supply chain in Brazil – shown in Figure 3 below – has multiple implications for the development of sustainability initiatives.





First, the cattle supply chain is characterized by a large number of actors, some of whom have historically had tense relationships. Coordination among actors throughout the supply chain is thus extremely challenging. There have historically been high levels of distrust among these actors: one producer stated that, "slaughterhouses are enemies of producers". Disagreements are frequently related to the establishment of prices, which are often most advantageous to the slaughterhouse. Local monopolies often mean that slaughterhouses can decide how much they are going to pay for the cattle (Drigo 2013).

Second, a single slaughtered cow produces many different products, including several different cuts of beef (with varying degrees of quality), leather, internal organs, bones, and fat/tallow. These cuts are sold for very different prices. For example, the average export values from an animal weighing 425 kg are: meat–USD 999; leather–USD 182; and fat/tallow–USD 14 (Walker et al. 2013a). Consumers only discriminate a few of these products with respect to quality. As a consequence, only the leather and the prime beef cuts from each certified cow are sold with the SAN/RA label, while the rest of the cow is sold for the same price as non-certified equivalents. This may serve as a disincentive to slaughterhouses that must buy certified cows for a higher value, but who are only able to sell a small number of products for a premium.

Finally, traceability and the control of cattle sourcing exacerbated by supply chain complexity is a major challenge for reducing deforestation. Animals are bred by many small farms and are moved from farm to farm at different stages, as was shown in Figure 3. Calves are often sold to large fattening farms through informal mechanisms, such as in auctions or by traders. The informality of the trade means that there is little control of the source origin of cattle. Although some interventions have been developed to tackle this issue, it remains difficult to discern whether calves were raised in illegally deforested properties, particularly because slaughterhouses are not in direct contact with these numerous small properties (Walker et al. 2013a).

### 4.3.4 Other interventions

Other supply chain interventions developed by private sector, civil society or state actors have facilitated or constrained the implementation of the SAN cattle program or could do so in the future. These interventions may act as steps to help farms achieve the high sustainability standards of the SAN cattle program, for example by enabling farms to improve their management practices as shown in Figure Fig. 4. Or they may constrain the program, for example by competing or reducing label credibility among consumers (Table 3).



Figure 4. Mechanism through which the SAN cattle program helps to raise the reference standards for sustainability; other interventions are steps that incrementally improve sustainability processes from the bottom-up

### 4.3.4.1 Institutions and policies

Brazil's National Law No. 12.651 from May  $25^{th}$ , 2012 (referred hereafter as the 'Forest Code') is considered by some to be the strictest national legislation for forest protection worldwide. Among the many requirements of the law, land-owners have to maintain a minimum proportion of forested area on their properties. These protected forests are called *Reserva Legal* (Legal Reserves – RL). The minimum percentage of the total area that each

property has to retain varies according to the biome in which it is located: properties located in Amazonia have to maintain 80% of their area protected as RL, whereas in the *cerrado* 35% must remain protected in RL. In addition to the RL, *Áreas de Preservação Permanente* (Permanent Protected Areas – APP) are defined as all of the natural vegetation surrounding water bodies and other special areas such as mountaintops and may also not be deforested.

The environmental criteria of the SAN cattle program are based upon and refer directly to the Forest Code: compliance with the Forest Code is an explicit requirement of the SAN cattle program. Producers that are compliant with this law are already far along towards meeting the SAN cattle certification program environmental criteria (SAN 2010, Forest Code 2012). Since the Forest Code is a legal obligation rather than an optional incentive, it is more likely to be widely enforced, leveraging many in the industry considerably closer to achieving the SAN criteria.

However, recent revisions to the Forest Code created considerable uncertainty, resulting in reluctance among producers to commit to new practices. In 2012, the Forest Code underwent a long process of reformation, and as of November 2013 the revised laws were not yet completely defined. Many producers are reluctant to adopt any new strategy or to join any sustainability program before the new law is finalized.

The Forest Code has an important role in influencing the expansion of the SAN cattle program, though the SAN cattle program is stricter than the Forest Code with respect to some of its environmental criteria. For instance, no farm can participate in the SAN cattle program if any deforestation has occurred on its property since 2005. In comparison, the Forest Code permits *legal* deforestation at any time, and an amnesty was granted to producers for *illegal* deforestation that occurred before 2008. In addition, the SAN cattle program requires that all RL and APP be protected from animals or other vectors of degradation (e.g. by the construction of fences), assuring greater protection of forested areas and waterways by reducing erosion by cattle (SAN 2010, Forest Code 2012).

An important step towards enforcing the Forest Code is the registration of every rural property in Brazil, so that all environmental data (including deforestation and areas of RL and APP) can be monitored, enforced, and controlled (Forest Code 2012). The *Cadastro Ambiental Rural* (Rural Environmental Registry – CAR) is a policy tool created under the Forest Code that is compulsory for all rural properties in Brazil, and is a pre-requisite for

compliance with the Forest Code. The CAR is considered by many to be a critical tool for avoiding deforestation, and several complementary initiatives are being developed to facilitate the implementation of CAR, while others cite CAR as a pre-requisite for participation. Nationally, few properties yet have the CAR, though in Pará and Mato Grosso a high percentage of rural properties are registered. In these places, the CAR has already helped to monitor and enforce legislation, and so policies that aim to register and legalize rural properties can enable the enforcement of the Forest Code and in turn catalyze the rate at which farms are able to consider participating in the SAN certification process.

A series of factors inhibit the rate at which properties are able to obtain the CAR. First, the cost and mechanism for obtaining the CAR varies from state to state, but can be prohibitively expensive for small ranchers, who frequently have no funding available for obtaining it. Second, while the CAR is part of federal legislation, each property is processed at a state level and each state defines how the information will be collected. This can either be by a technical assistant, assuring more precise geo-referencing and property characterization; or by self-declaration, in which each farmer reports the characteristics of their property, which can lead to less accurate information. Finally, the institutions responsible for processing millions of registries have limited capacity, and so the process of obtaining a CAR for every property will be a lengthy one.

Some interventions aim to enhance sustainability by restricting market access for unsustainable producers. In 2009 the Public Prosecutors (MPF) imposed a *Termo de Adjustamento de Conduta* (Conduct Adjustment Term – TAC) on slaughterhouses and retailers, forcing these actors to buy cattle only from properties with the CAR. Consequently, no cattle from illegally deforested properties (such as those in IBAMA-embargoed areas) can be sold. Fines are levied against actors who do not comply with the TAC. This moratorium resulted in slaughterhouses and retailers exerting pressure over producers to avoid illegal deforestation and to become compliant with the Forest Code, and changed the criteria used by slaughterhouses to select their suppliers. The threat of losing income is a significant incentive to producers to change their practices and to stop deforestation (Drigo 2013).

Poor rural infrastructure is a final example of state policy inhibiting progress towards greater sustainability. The criteria of the SAN cattle program require correct waste disposal and energy in all employees' houses within the farm. However, in some cases, there are no

facilities for correct waste disposal in the city closest to the farm or electric energy available. Improvements in such infrastructure are beyond the scope of most individual actors, and require formal government support.

The institutional and policy interventions described above have some flaws and are still adapting, but they can help to improve the basic challenges for forest conservation in the cattle supply chain. However, one of the biggest barriers to progress is the small number of government initiatives that systematically address the need to provide technical assistance to small and medium producers. This is a key barrier to achieving enhanced sustainability, assuring compliance for a majority of landowners and creating conditions for companies in the cattle industry to achieve the SAN cattle certification.

#### 4.3.4.2 Incentives

Incentive-based interventions have positively influenced the development of SAN cattle program, as described above in Table 3 and Figure 2. Private sector interventions such as the *Marfrig Club, Garantia de Origem* (GO) and *Taeq* programs have been developed by retailers (Table 3). These interventions have established voluntary standards that can be followed by producers, whose products can then be sold for higher prices under the program's label. Adherence to the criteria leads to an improvement in production processes and sustainability, raising the standards of participating producers and leveraging them closer to the levels of the SAN cattle standards (Figure 4). For example, many of the farms in the highest level of the *Marfrig Club* program were very close to achieving the sustainability standards required for SAN certification, since they were compliant with the Forest Code, had strict control over their production process, and already complied with other social and animal-wellbeing criteria (Marfrig 2011).

Incentive-based interventions have provided a historical opportunity for actors to gain experience of adopting and adhering to sustainability standards in several cases. *Fazendas São Marcelo* achieved the organic cattle certification in 2000, and was formerly part of the *GO* program - suggesting that these programs can be steps that enable farms to work towards the SAN standards. FSM opted out of the organic program in 2008 in response to low financial returns: low sales did not compensate for high production costs. As a consequence of the practices developed in relation to these other initiatives, FSM needed to make few additional changes to achieve SAN cattle certification. The main changes FSM needed to make were

improved herbicide use, better documentation of management practices, and additional fencing. Similarly, Marfrig has, since 2010, adhered to several other social and environmental standards, including International Organization for Standardization (ISO) certificates for food safety management (ISO 22000) and environmental management (ISO 14000). The decision by Marfrig to achieve SAN cattle program certification was driven by a desire to have more differentiated products, enabling them to access new markets. The only aspect of their production process that had to be changed was the introduction of a unique color of label to ensure segregation and traceability of certified cattle products. Finally, the farm that is currently becoming certifications, both have to comply with the *Sustainable Agriculture Standard*. The farm's experience with coffee certification may have catalyzed and facilitated the achievement of some of the criteria for cattle. Producers with a SAN certificate for a different commodity stated that they have to change very few practices in order to become SAN-certified for cattle.

Although these private sector interventions can act to improve the sustainability of the supply chain, some of the initiatives can also compete in the market with SAN-certified products, and may therefore inhibit the adoption and scaling of the SAN cattle program. For example, Carrefour have pitched SAN-labeled beef as comparable to their own GO program, despite the considerably higher standards of sustainability and producer costs associated with the SAN program. The supermarket advertised the two programs together in a high impact magazine, and sells SAN-certified beef products with similar price premiums as its own GO products. Such comparisons may fail to generate financial benefits for SAN-certified producers that reflect their higher costs. Similarly, Marfrig promotes its own *Marfrig Club* brand ahead of SAN, by initially recruiting producers to the *Marfrig Club* program in preference to encouraging farmers to consider SAN cattle certification.

The Brazilian domestic market is thus crowded with competing labels and standards, which represent varying degrees of credibility and transparency. The history of these labels in the market may mean that consumers are accustomed to the idea of production standards being indicated by different labels, preparing them for the SAN-certified RA sustainability label. At the same time, consumers may fail to differentiate among alternative labels, which could diminish the impact of a strict, third-party certification such as that of the SAN cattle

program. Some consumers are unwilling to pay for certified products because they have concerns regarding their credibility (Hall 2012).

Government incentive programs can also offer opportunities for producers to improve practices. For example, the Low Carbon Agriculture Program (ABC Program) awards loans to producers who are interested in ameliorating their production practices toward reduction of carbon emissions and sustainability (Observatório do Plano ABC 2013). The ABC Program creates loans with low interest rates and extended terms (from five to 15 years, depending on the type of project) (Strassburg et al. 2011). However, these loan programs are complex. To be able to access these loans the producer must submit a lengthy document that details all the steps and practices that will be developed with the loan. Because many small and medium producers in Amazonia have limited knowledge of this type of information, they either don't apply for a loan, or are unlikely to be awarded one (Cohn et al. 2011, Strassburg et al. 2011). As a result, 69% of the funding available from the ABC Program in 2012-13 was distributed to cattle ranchers in the south and southeast of the country, where ranchers are more organized and have much more infrastructure and access to information than those located in the Amazon biome (Observatório do Plano ABC 2013). The loans therefore reach the producers who have more access to infrastructure and private funding rather than the ones who may benefit from them the most.

Private sector and government incentives deal with two very distinct contextual situations. Private sector initiatives promote high sustainability practices and so can be considered steps towards the achievement of the SAN cattle program standards (Figure 4). Further, these interventions offer price premium and market accessibility for producers, slaughterhouses and retailers. The adoption of such initiatives increases both the likelihood of achieving SAN cattle program standards and the probability of reduced deforestation within properties. However, adequate distinction between these standards and those associated with SANcertified and RA-labeled products is critical to avoiding competition. In contrast, government loan incentives were created in order to tackle the financial problems that small and medium producers face in developing good agricultural practices within their farms. The loan programs still require improvements, and it is likely that, until this happens, the financial capacity of producers to work towards more sustainable practices will depend on other interventions.

#### 4.3.4.3 Information and technology

Many interventions based on information and technology directly address the problems of poor access to information and infrastructure among small and medium producers. These interventions aid producers with obtaining the CAR, development of good agricultural practices, intensification, and monitoring and control. Some of them also provide funding to achieve these goals. Other initiatives target slaughterhouses, with measures such as traceability.

Programs that help producers achieve the CAR include the *Olhos d'Água da Amazônia* and *Municípios Verdes* (Green Municipalities) programs, operated by the Alta Floresta municipality secretariat in MT and Pará state government respectively. The program *Olhos d'Água*, which started in 2011, is in its first phase and has already achieved the CAR for more than 80% of the properties of the municipality. The secretariat paid for the registry with the *Fundo Amazônia* (Amazon Fund) and provided the infrastructure and knowledge necessary to achieve the registration. The *Municípios Verdes* has a similar approach but reaches a larger scale, being developed in several municipalities in the state of Pará: many municipalities already have more than 80% of properties registered. The possession of the CAR is a significant step toward assuring that the property is compliant with the Forest Code, and likewise closer to the achievement of the SAN cattle program standards.

Interventions such as the *Low Carbon Ranching* and the *Sustainable Ranching in Practice* focus on pasture management, intensification and good agricultural practices inside demonstration units (DUs) within volunteer farms. The NGO (ICV) and roundtable (GTPS) program developers help producers to implement management plans, production control, and pasture improvements. The DUs will be used to disseminate these practices to other producers (Table 3). Embrapa's *Boas Práticas Agropecuárias* program (good agricultural practices – BPA Embrapa) are a benchmark set of criteria used by producers nationwide for the improvement of these practices, and some other programs use it as a guideline for determining best production alternatives. By providing information and infrastructure (e.g. machinery, herbicides, feed, water pumps) to help producers improve their techniques, these interventions raise the sustainability practices of farms, which will be better prepared for the adoption of p both private sector incentive programs and eventually, the SAN cattle program (Figure 4). For instance, after one year of implementation of the program *Low Carbon Ranching*, pasture

quality improved and the number of heads per area increased from 1.4 animal units per ha (the average in the Alta Floresta region) to 3.1 animal units inside DUs.

Breeding farms are numerous and are usually small, which makes it challenging to track the entire lifecycle of a cow. Traceability programs were developed to tackle this issue. The Sisbov (Brazilian system for bovine and buffalo origin identification and certification), for example, is a program that identifies each animal within a property and is capable of tracking it throughout its life cycle from birth to slaughter. However, Sisbov is a voluntary instrument and is commonly only implemented by farms that sell directly to slaughterhouses, since adoption of the program enables their products to be accepted for the export market. Also, Sisbov is more focused on the control of conditions of animal health and hygiene than on the prevention of deforestation. A second traceability initiative, implemented by MAPA, is the Guia de Transporte de Animais (Animal Transportation Guide - GTA), which is an official document that has to be completed with information regarding the destination and hygiene conditions of animals each time they are transported between farms or to the slaughterhouse. Although effective, it is also more focused on animal welfare and hygiene rather than environmental legality. The SAN cattle program's requirement for full traceability brings important additionality to this issue, but the absence of a comprehensive traceability program creates a bottleneck for the expansion of the program.

Finally, some interventions do not act directly within the cattle supply chain, but help to control and monitor illegal activities such as deforestation. These programs include the *Núcleo de Inteligência Territorial* (Territorial Intelligence Centre - NIT), *Monitoramento da Floresta Amazônica Brasileira por Satélite* (Brazilian Amazon Satellite Monitoring System – PRODES), *Plano de Prevenção e Controle do Desmatamento na Amazônia* (Plan for the prevention and control of Amazonian deforestation – PPCDAm), and IBAMA's embargoed areas. All of these contribute by monitoring illegal deforestation, and in some cases they make their data publicly available. For instance, slaughterhouses can use data from IBAMA on embargoed areas to identify producers from whom they cannot buy cattle. These initiatives also facilitate the implementation of other interventions.

Interventions characterized by novel information and technologies adopt multiple foci, from improved practices to technological improvement to monitoring. Monitoring is one of the most important strategies for the state to control deforestation, and these initiatives are

generally national in scale. In contrast, several technology and information interventions do not achieve large-scale, national coherence across the cattle supply chain and reach just a few, focal actor groups. Still, there is great potential to replicate these initiatives across multiple municipal secretariats, thus increasing their scale and impact. Improved access to information and technology is likely to allow more actors to change their production processes and address the core problems of poor environmental compliance and management practices.

# 5. Discussion

The SAN cattle program has set higher standards for sustainability than any previous policy or incentive program in Brazil, raising the sustainability reference-level for the rest of the cattle supply chain. It has potential to alter the industry's wider context by creating new incentives and markets. Initially, the program was established with strategic recruitment of pioneer actors who already had a culture of sustainability and who already employed highstandard practices. The program has already certified some actors and established a small market for sustainable beef, and has thus made some progress towards enhanced sustainability in the cattle supply chain.

## 5.1. Opportunities and challenges

The future success and expansion of the program depends in part on the context in which it is developed and in part on other governance interventions operating within the sector. Historical and market contexts created a barrier to the SAN cattle program because they resulted in a reality in which many actors operate far below the sustainability criteria required by the program. Further, price premiums are not yet sufficiently attractive to motivate significant change. Thus, the high SAN cattle standards may not be met by many producers, and the new market may continue to be accessible to very few actors. On the other hand, many initiatives act to increase sustainability and enforcement throughout the supply chain, and these may facilitate the establishment of the new standards, changing the ranching context in Brazil and developing the new market.

Motivations for producers, slaughterhouses, and retailers to participate in the SAN cattle program are both financial and non-financial. They include receipt of a small price premium, reduction in costs, increased production efficiency and greater market access. Other interventions complement the SAN cattle program by increasing the number of properties that are already closer to environmental compliance (e.g. the Forest Code and CAR) and by providing producers with information, technology, and funding opportunities. In contrast, legislation uncertainty, a lack of supporting government policies, and competition with other private-sector interventions may constrain the development and scaling of the SAN cattle program. The current absence of a sufficiently large price premium and low market demand were cited as disincentives to producers for the pursuit of SAN cattle certification, while supply chain characteristics, including the large number of actors at each stage (producers, slaughterhouses, and retailers) and diverse cattle products also create challenges for certification. These, and other opportunities and challenges, are discussed in detail below.

#### 5.1.1 Market supply and demand

Many interventions complementary to the SAN cattle program are working toward the improvement of producer practices, but few are dealing directly with increasing market demand for certified products. Most farmers seek direct financial returns to compensate for investing in changed production processes to achieve high standards for certification (Chen et al. 2010, Drigo 2013). Although many actors believe that price premiums are unlikely to increase, they are of great importance in encouraging producers to engage in the program (Strassburg et al. 2011, Walker et al. 2013b).

Even farmers who have the initial capital to make the changes necessary to achieve SAN certification are skeptical that demand will be sufficient to make the investment worthwhile (Walker et al. 2013c). At the same time, market expansion for SAN-certified cattle products may be constrained by the limited volume of sustainable cattle available to retailers. This 'chicken and egg' problem could be a major obstacle if retailers are unable to promote the product widely enough to create sufficient demand, and few suppliers become certified because there is lack of demand. It is extremely important that demand-side initiatives are developed to create an incentive to suppliers, by stimulating markets for more sustainable products and by promoting research and technology transfers along the chain (Walker et al. 2013c). Finally, it is essential that SAN-certified products be differentiated from the alternative private-sector standards, to avoid unrepresentative competition and to acknowledge the higher producer costs and sustainability standards associated with SAN-certified products.

#### 5.1.2 Intervention complementarity

The SAN cattle program is not the only solution for reducing deforestation associated with the cattle supply chain in Brazil, nor does it aim to be. Rather, it is a complementary intervention that fills a unique, previously unoccupied niche alongside other private sector, civil society, and state interventions.

A possible trajectory of the SAN cattle program is that it will recruit different actors over time. In the first stage, the program enlisted actors with existing high standards of sustainability and good practices. It targeted pioneer actors who have been able to achieve certification in the short term and who were not mainly motivated by direct financial incentives (Drigo 2013). However, such actors comprise only a small proportion of producers in the Brazilian cattle supply chain, and the SAN cattle program itself does not include any specific mechanisms to enable the majority of producers to get closer to these high sustainability standards (Steering Committee 2012). Therefore, certification will likely be able to initially scale up by engaging actors with current higher sustainability standards, such as those in the highest level of the *Marfrig Club*. However, many actors may be unable to independently progress in the sustainability process, and this could increase the dichotomy among producers with the best practices and the rest (McDermott 2012, Walker et al. 2013b).

Other, complementary interventions are therefore critical in dealing with some of the main issues in the cattle supply chain, such as non-compliance with the environmental code and poor access to technical assistance and information (Smeraldi and May 2009, Cohn et al. 2011, Strassburg et al. 2012, Barreto 2012). Government policies are the main mechanism for enforcing environmental compliance and for providing assistance to small producers to achieve this on a national scale (Drigo 2013). Some interventions are implemented nationally, such as the monitoring of deforestation and prosecutions of retailers and slaughterhouses (Drigo 2013, GTPS 2013a, MMA 2013, CAR 2013). However, other government initiatives, such as *Olhos d`Água da Amazônia* and *Municípios Verdes*, are developed at a sub-national level by states or municipalities and so don't achieve large-scale coherence across the cattle supply chain. The lack of strong government policies and patchy scales creates a gap that is being filled by interventions developed by private sector and civil society actors.

In aggregate, other existing, related interventions aim to increase compliance with national and state laws, facilitate farms in obtaining property registrations, and provide more

information and technical assistance. These interventions could therefore leverage a larger number of farms towards a higher standard of sustainability, working from the bottom of the supply chain up, improving the practices of the least sustainable producers and reducing inequality in the sector (Figure 4). This step-by-step process may place more farms within reach of certification as a viable tool for even greater improvements in sustainability. In subsequent stages, small and medium farms may therefore be better positioned to achieve SAN cattle certification.

The SAN cattle program does not explicitly depend on any other intervention, but a positive correlation between compliance with the law and adoption of certification has been observed in coffee-certified farms (Lima et al. 2009), and the expansion of the SAN cattle certification would certainly be slower if none of these complementary, catalyzing interventions were developed alongside it. Indeed, the combination of some of these interventions has already resulted in the reduction of deforestation rates in Amazonia from 2004 to 2011: even though the total cattle herd increased in this period, deforestation decreased from 2.7 million ha in 2004 to 600,000 ha in 2011 (IBGE 2006, Barreto 2012, Macedo et al 2012, INPE 2013).

## 5.2. Scaling up

A challenge for the SAN cattle program is to scale up to reach a larger proportion of actors and cattle products in Brazil's cattle supply chain. Overcoming this challenge may be alternatively aided and hindered by the context in which the program is being implemented and the other interventions being developed. Although the cattle supply chain presents challenges different from the coffee and timber chains, all are based on the same broad strategies and had similar obstacles to their implementation and scaling. Thus, lessons from these sectors may be useful (Steering Committee 2010, McDermott 2012).

First among these obstacles is that small and medium producers have difficulty achieving the standards, making expansion difficult (Hatanaka et al. 2005, McDermott 2012, Walker et al. 2013b). Developers of SAN coffee certification found that group certification standards can act as a strategic mechanism for the inclusion of smaller producers. In the coffee supply chain, this strategy succeeded in engaging producers of different profiles and sizes, who share strategies, responsibilities, profits, and risks. They developed a degree of cooperation among them that is not common for the agricultural sector in Brazil. Group certification could

improve producer representativeness in the supply chain and could facilitate coordination throughout it (Pinto et al. in prep).

Although inclusion of small and medium properties would undoubtedly help to achieve scale for certification, there are examples of programs that have expanded considerably by primarily certifying large companies. An example is the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) timber certification, which was formally established in Brazil in 2001. Although the program has certified few small producers, it already has more than 16 certified units covering more than three million ha (Taylor 2005, Pinto and McDermott 2013, Romero et al. 2013).

The SAN cattle program's development is dependent on producer, slaughterhouse, and retailer willingness to participate in the program, and lack of demand could be a major challenge to its expansion. One reason for the belief that demand will not be adequate to incentivize suppliers to adopt certification is that Brazilian consumers have an 'Attitude Behavior Gap'. This is defined as the difference between stated environmentally-friendly attitudes and a willingness to pay more for sustainability, and the behavior that is observed in practice where consumption is based primarily on price and quality rather than on sustainability criteria (Barcellos et al 2011). Two different strategies were developed by coffee and timber certification markets to promote demand and deal with this issue and can be used as reference for the cattle supply chain.

The strategy of the coffee supply chain was to associate the concept of sustainability with the concept of quality. Market competitiveness in Brazil is achieved by quality and price more than by sustainability criteria. Thus, by associating these two characteristics, certification can secure demand from the same niche that demands quality (Giovannucci and Ponte 2005). Likewise, Brazilian consumers value prime beef cuts for their quality, and so this could be also a strategy for the cattle supply chain. A short-term solution for developing this strategy would be to sell certified beef in restaurant chains that are known for their quality. Marfrig is reaching this market and has begun negotiations with selected quality restaurant chains (Taylor 2005).

FSC timber certification, in contrast, offered a different incentive to suppliers. Timber is currently a buyer-driven commodity supply chain, and large retailer groups create most timber demand. For instance, the retailer members of the Global Forest and Trade Network generate two-thirds of the demand for FSC-certified wood products (Atyi and Simula 2002,

Klooster 2005). This dominance generated pressure for more suppliers to become certified, even though there is little or no price premium for them (Taylor 2005, Drigo 2013, Walker et al. 2013b). FSC certification has grown dramatically as a result (despite the absence of price premiums), though mainly large-scale suppliers have had the conditions to access these markets (Taylor 2005). For cattle, *Grupo Pão de Açucar*, *Carrefour* and *Wal-Mart* could act as catalysts by putting pressure on suppliers (ABRAS 2013).

In contrast to coffee and timber, the cattle export market represents a relatively small percentage (22%) of Brazil's beef trade. International markets have a stronger history of buying sustainably certified products, which is in many cases related to higher income rates and willingness to pay for sustainable products (van Kootena et al. 2005), and there is greater recognition of sustainability labels – such as the RA label – than in Brazil. Furthermore, in many certification schemes, there is a positive correlation between the percentage of export and the motivation for suppliers to adopt certification (van Kootena et al. 2005). Using these international markets to help establish demand for SAN-certified beef could be a strategic way to overcome the chicken-and-egg problem of constrained market expansion for SAN-certified products by demonstrating demand and recruiting more farmers to the program. Until now, fear of low market demand has been a disincentive for suppliers (Section 5.1).

Finally, scaling up of the SAN cattle program could also benefit from the endorsement of this intervention by influential actors. The GTPS is one such key strategic actor since it a) connects all of the cattle supply chain participants, b) would be able to deal with disagreements among different actors, and c) would be able to help concomitantly coordinate the development of supply and demand (Drigo 2013).

## 5.3. Environmental impacts

It is difficult to track the environmental impacts of the SAN cattle program for several reasons. First, the program was implemented in 2010 and the first farms were certified in 2012, and so only three farms in Brazil have been certified to date, with one in the process of certifying. However, the strictness of the auditing criteria that is developed by a third-party certification provides a very robust assurance that the minimum necessary criteria for achieving certification are being met, and that positive environmental impacts will likely result.

The program is likely to scale up over the coming years, certifying a larger number of farms that are currently further from these standards. This leads to the second difficulty: that of determining a baseline. A farm is unlikely to actively express interest in the SAN cattle program until they are 'within reach' of its sustainability standards. Yet the presence of the program within the cattle sector, setting a high-bar for the entire supply chain to aspire to and creating new market incentives, may have motivated behavioral changes in actors long before they began to formally engage with the program.

Third, there is no established impact assessment methodology for certification programs generally, and very few reliable quantitative studies of the impact of certification across commodities and scales (Romero et al. 2013). The development of an effective impact assessment for certified farms would have to take into consideration factors such as the changes made in the farm prior to the first audit, the differences between certified and control farms, and that factors other than the certification might positively or negatively affect the environmental outcome of interest (Blackman and Rivera 2010). More broadly, the development of a better impact assessment methodology would be facilitated by the identification of good indicators of selected outcomes (Newton et al. 2013).

Finally, the farms that have been certified to date have been those with production practices closest to the sustainability standards demanded by the SAN cattle program. Thus, the additional requirements for these farms to conform to the SAN standards were relatively low. For example, two of the *Fazendas São Marcelo* units are located in the Amazon biome, one of them in the heart of the arc of deforestation and the second one south of the arc frontier but still inside the biome. In the *Juruena* unit, more than 16,600 ha of the total area of 25,000 ha were already designated as preserved forests before the group decided to certify. In the Tangará da Serra unit, 2,300 ha of the total area of 6,000 ha were already designated as Legal Reserves. The legal requirement to have an aggregate 50% of the area designated as Reserves was thus already met. However, both units are additionally implementing restoration projects to increase the forested area within the farms, in response to certification criteria.

Some further inferences about additionality and avoided deforestation resulting from the SAN cattle program can be made, particularly in comparison with the Forest Code criteria. First, the SAN cattle program demands that producers are compliant with the Forest Code. All farms are legally required to demonstrate progress towards compliance, but the SAN cattle

program may provide additional incentive to farms that in other respects are close to meeting the criteria for sustainability. Compliance with the Forest Code is additional to business-asusual for most farms (Strassburg et al. 2011, Drigo 2013). Second, by being stricter than the Forest Code with regard to the year after which deforestation is not permitted and by requiring that cattle cannot enter RLs and APPs, the SAN cattle program assures less deforestation and less degradation of forests and the edges of water bodies (SAN 2010, Forest Code 2012).

Finally, one of the challenges of cattle production is that it is difficult to track movements of cattle from small breeders to other farms. Programs such as the *Sisbov* and GTA help with traceability, but are more focused on animal welfare and health and sanitary issues and do not yet incorporate and integrate information from environmental compliance. Therefore, the SAN cattle program presents a significant innovation in relation to traceability. One of the program's critical criteria is that the farm is able to demonstrate that all cattle are born and raised in SAN-certified farms, or that the purchased cattle come from farms that haven't deforested since 2005. This means that small farms that sell cattle also have to be certified or be checked regarding their environmental compliance. The SAN cattle program is unique in requiring producers other than those who sell directly to the slaughterhouses to be monitored. The requirement prevents leakage by either certifying the supplier properties or by assuring full traceability, no matter the stage of the cycle the certified farm (SAN 2010).

Additionally, the SAN has also developed a *Climate Module*, which aims to provide additional value to the practices developed by producers that are part of SAN standards, putting more emphasis on practices that aim to reduce greenhouse gas emissions (SAN 2011). The *Climate Module* adds 15 criteria onto the existing SAN certification system, encouraging farmers to monitor and reduce emissions, maintain soil carbon stocks, and adapt to climate change impacts (SAN 2011). In sum, the SAN cattle program addresses the factors motivating deforestation both directly and indirectly. Directly, it creates additionality even for the most sustainable farms; its high-standard criteria are assessed by a very strict, third-party audit; and it provides financial and non-financial motivations to actors at all stages of the supply chain. In aggregate, these effects might result in positive environmental outcomes at a landscape level.

# 6. Conclusions

Voluntary certification is a market instrument that provides an additional tool for enhancing sustainability within commodity supply chains, alongside other interventions. The SAN cattle program has in a short period achieved initial, relevant steps toward enhancing sustainability in the Brazilian cattle supply chain: by creating a new market, enhancing sustainability references, and by certifying actors at all stages of the supply chain. However, the Brazilian context imposes several challenges and barriers for the certification of more actors by the SAN cattle program. First, incentives for certification need to be augmented to motivate actors who are in a position to become certified to complete the process. Second, since the cattle supply chain is shaped in such a way that the practices of many producers are at a level where they are unable to consider certification as a possibility, more needs to be done to increase the sustainability of the majority of supply chain actors in order to increase their opportunities for participating in the SAN cattle program. This could be achieved by the scaling up of interventions to achieve large-scale coherence across the cattle supply chain.

These issues are being tackled at a range of scales by actors from all sectors using interventions based variously on institutions, incentives, and information, all of which have the shared aim of enhancing sustainability across the cattle supply chain. A number of broad strategies would help to contribute to the improvement of the cattle supply chain.

- Better enforcement of strong policies is urgently needed to assist producers with information and technology in order to become compliant with the law and to improve production processes. These policies could be controlled by government institutions in partnership with civil society and private institutions.
- 2. It is necessary to increase consumer demand for sustainable products, which may require additional information and education to change consumer culture.
- 3. If groups that are able to exert influence over supply and demand in the cattle supply chain endorsed certification as a priority action, then more positive outcomes might be achieved (Walker et al. 2013c).
- 4. It is important to develop strategies to incorporate small producers into the SAN cattle certification program, both in order to increase sustainability among this key group and to avoid inequalities and exclusion of these actors from the market.

5. Finally, although multiple relevant interventions have been developed, there is a lack of strong coordination among them. It is essential that interventions be strongly linked, catalyzing their effectiveness in a coherent, strategic approach to enhanced sustainability.

In sum, the SAN cattle program has great potential to help curb deforestation both directly by introducing high sustainability standards and indirectly by changing the sustainability references for the entire supply chain. The context of the cattle supply chain in Brazil poses opportunities and challenges to enhancing the sustainability of cattle production in general, and to the SAN cattle certification program's objective of reduced deforestation in particular. However, environmental issues are a primary and growing concern in Brazil, and numerous interventions are being developed to tackle deforestation directly and indirectly through the cattle supply chain. Some of these interventions may help catalyze or complement the SAN cattle program, positively enhancing sustainability on a meaningful scale. A combination of government, civil society, and private sector initiatives will likely continue to improve the chain in the near future, with significant potential for further reductions in deforestation and greenhouse gas emissions associated with cattle ranching.

# References

- ABIEC. Associação Brasileira das Indústrias Exportadoras de Carne. 2012. Estatísticas. Balanço da Pecuária. Available from <u>http://www.abiec.com.br/texto.asp?id=8</u>. Accessed on 15 September 2013.
- ABPO. Associação Brasileira de Proutores Orgânicos. 2013. Available from <u>http://abpopantanalorganico.com.br/en/parceiros</u>. Accessed on 24 September 24 2013.
- ABRAS. Associação Brasileira de Supermercados. 2013. Ranking ABRAS 2013. Available from <a href="http://www.abrasnet.com.br/clipping.php?area=20&clipping=35061">http://www.abrasnet.com.br/clipping.php?area=20&clipping=35061</a>. Accessed on 16 September 2013.
- Acrimat. Associação dos Criadores do Mato Grosso. 2012. *Diretrizes para o desenvolvimento da pecuária de corte de Mato Grosso: visao de universitários e pecuaristas*. Mato Grosso: Acrimat.
- Aliança da Terra. 2009. Critérios, Indicadores e meios de verificação do CCSX. Goiânia.
- Atyi RE, Simula M. 2002. *Forest certification: pending challenges for tropical timber*. Yokohama, Japan: International Tropical Timber Organization.
- Barcellos MD, Krystallis A, Saab MSM, Kugler JO, Grunert KG. 2011. Investigating the gap between citizens' sustainability attitudes and food purchasing behaviour: empirical evidence from Brazilian pork consumers. *International Journal of Consumer Studies* 35:391–402.
- Barreto P. 2012. *O Brasil atingirá sua meta de redução do desmatamento*? Belém, PA: Imazon.
- Bass T, Markopoulos R, Grah G. 2001. Certifications impacts on forests, stakeholders and supply chains: instruments for sustainable private sector forestry series. London: International Institute for Environment and Development.
- Blackman A, Rivera J. 2010. The Evidence Base for Environmental and Socioeconomic Impacts of "Sustainable" Certification. Discussion Paper. Resources for the future. Washington, DC.
- Bustamante MMC, Nobre CA, Smeraldi R, Aguiar APD, Barioni LG, Ferreira LG, Longo K, May P, Pinto AS, Ometto JPHB. 2012. Estimating greenhouse gas emissions from cattle raising in Brazil. *Climatic Change* 115: 559–577.
- CAR. Cadastro Ambiental Rural. 2013. Available at: <u>http://www.car.gov.br/index.php/beneficios-sicar</u>. Accessed on 24 September, 2013.

Carrefour. 2010. Relatório de Desenvolvimento Sustentável. São Paulo.

- Cezar IM, Quiroz HP, Thiago LRLS, Cassales FLG, Costa FP. 2005. Sistemas de produção de gado de corte no Brasil: uma descrição com ênfase no regime alimentar e no abate Campo Grande. Embrapa Gado de Corte.
- Chen J, Innes L, Tikina A. 2010. Private Cost-Benefits of Voluntary Forest Product Certification. *International Forestry Review* 12(1):1-12.
- Cohn A, Bowman M, Zilberman D, O'Neill K. 2011. The Viability of Cattle Ranching Intensification in Brazil as a Strategy to Spare Land and Mitigate Greenhouse Gas Emissions. CCAFS Working Paper no. 11. Copenhagen, Denmark: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS). Available from <u>www.ccafs.cgiar.org</u>. Accessed on 12 November 2013.
- DNV Business Assurance. 2013. Check List Auditoria Garantia de Origem. São Paulo. March, 2013.
- Drigo IG. 2013. Rumo à carne sustentável certificada? As razões e os mecanismos pelos quais os produtores de carne bovina na Amazônia Legal estão iniciando mudanças em suas práticas. Projeto de Pós Doutorado: Padrões privados de sustentabilidade na cadeia produtiva da carne bovina na Amazônia Brasileira e cerrado. Núcleo de Economia Socioambiental, Faculdade de Economia e Administração. São Paulo: Universidade de São Paulo.
- Embrapa and INPE. Empresa Brasileira de Pesquisa Agropecuária (EMBRAPA) e Instituto Nacional de PEsquisas Espaciais (INPE). 2011. *Dados Municipais do levantamento de informações de uso e cobertura da terra na Amazônia*. Brasilia: Terra Class.
- Embrapa. Empresa Brasileira de Pesquisa Agropecuária. 2011. *Boas práticas agropecuárias: bovinos de corte: manual de orientações*. Editor técnico Ezequiel Rodrigues do Valle. Campo Grande: Embrapa Gado de Corte.
- FAOSTAT. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2013. Production. Food Balance Sheets. Available from <u>http://faostat.fao.org/site/368/DesktopDefault.aspx?PageID=368#ancor</u>. Accessed on 4 November 2013.
- FCO. Fundo Constitucional de Fianciamento do Centro-Oeste. 2013. Available from <u>http://www.bb.com.br/docs/pub/gov/dwn/CartilhaFCO.pdf</u>. Accessed on 24 September 2013.
- Fearnside PM. 2000. Global warming and tropical land-use change: Greenhouse gas emissions from biomass burning, decomposition and soils in forest conversion, shifting cultivation and secondary vegetation. *Climatic Change* 46: 115-158.

- Forest Code. 2012. Presidência da República. Casa Civil. Subchefia para Assntos Jurídicos. Available from <u>http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil\_03/\_Ato2011-</u> 2014/2012/Lei/L12651.htm. Accessed on 24 September 2013.
- Gibbs HK, Ruesch AS, Achard F, Clayton MK, Holmgrene P, Ramankutty N, Foley JA. 2010. Tropical forests were the primary sources of new agricultural land in the 1980s and 1990s. *PNAS* 107 (38): 16732-16737.
- Giovannucci D, Ponte S. 2005. Standards as a new form of social contract? Sustainability initiatives in the coffee industry. *Food Policy* 30:284–301.
- Golan E, Kuchler F, Mitchell L, Greene C, Jessup A. 2001. Economics of food labeling. *Journal of Consumer Policy* 24, 117–184.
- Greenpeace. 2013. *Certifying destruction. Why consumer companies need to go beyond the RSPO to stop forest destruction.* The Netherlands: Greenpeace International.
- GPA. Grupo Pão de Açucar. 2013. Marcas Exclusivas: Taeq. Available from <u>http://www.grupopaodeacucar.com.br/marcas-exclusivas/taeq/</u>. Accessed on 19 September 2013.
- GTPS. Grupo de Trabalho da Pecuária Sustentável. 2013a. Mechanisms for control and mitigation of deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon Biome. White Paper. Available from <u>http://www.pecuariasustentavel.org.br/gtps/GTPS White Paper on mechanisms for con</u> <u>trol\_and\_mitigation\_of\_deforestation\_in\_the\_Brazilian\_Amazon\_Biome\_(Livestock\_Cattl</u> <u>e).pdf</u>. Accessed on 9 September 2013.
- GTPS. Grupo de Trabalho da Pecuária Sustentável. 2013b. Available from <a href="http://www.pecuariasustentavel.org.br/">http://www.pecuariasustentavel.org.br/</a>. Accessed on 24 September 2013
- Hall SC. 2012. Beef Consumption in Curitiba, Brazil: Willingness to Pay for Sustainable Production. MS Thesis. Department of Forestry and Environmental Resources, North Carolina State University.
- Hatanaka M, Bain C, Busch L. 2005. Third-party certification in the global agrifood system. Food Policy 30:354–369.
- IBGE. Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatísticas. 2006. Censo Agropecuário 2006. Rio de Janeiro, Brasil: Grandes Regiões e Unidades da Federação.
- IBGE. Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatísticas. 2013. Banco de Dados Agregados, Sistema IBGE de Recuperação Automática (SIDRA): Efetivo dos rebanhos por tipo de rebanhos. Available from

http://www.sidra.ibge.gov.br/bda/tabela/listabl2.asp?c=73&n=0&u=0&z=t&o=24&i=P. Accessed on 15 September 2013.

- ICMBio. Instituto Chico Mendes para Conservação. 2013. Areas Embargadas. Available from <a href="http://www.icmbio.gov.br/portal/servicos/infracoes-ambientais/areas-embargadas.html">http://www.icmbio.gov.br/portal/servicos/infracoes-ambientais/areas-embargadas.html</a>. Accessed on 24 September 2013.
- ICV. Instituto Centro de Vida. 2013. Pecuária Integrada de Baixo Carbono. IPAM workshop sobre pecuária. Acre.
- IMAZON. Instituto do Homem e Meio Ambiente da Amazônia. 2013. Available from <u>http://www.imazon.org.br/publicacoes/outros/desmatamento-e-degradacao-florestal-nobioma-amazonia-2000-2010</u>. Accessed on 28 September 2013.
- IMEA. Instituto Mato-Grossense de Economia Agropecuária. 2011. Conhecimento em conjuntura e estrutura do agronegócio de Mato Grosso. Cuiabá. Available from <u>http://www.imea.com.br/upload/pdf/arquivos/2013\_25\_06\_Apresentacao\_MT.pdf</u>. Accessed on 17 September 2013.
- INPE. Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas Espaciais. 2013. Taxas anuais do desmatamento 1988 até 2012. Available from <u>http://www.obt.inpe.br/prodes/prodes/1988\_2012.htm</u>. Accessed on 15 September 2013.
- Klooster D. 2005. Environmental certification of forests: The evolution of environmental governance in a commodity network. *Journal of Rural Studies* 21: 403–417.
- Lima ACB, Alves MC, Maule RF, Sparovek G. 2009. Does certification make a difference? Impact assessment study on FSC/SAN certification in Brazil. Entropix, Piracicaba: Imaflora.
- Macedo PCA, Lima LCO. 2011. Oligopólio mundial, investimento estratégico e arena competitiva: o caso da industria frigorífica de carne bovina Brasileira. VIII Simpósio em Excelencia de Gestão e Tecnologia. Rio de Janeiro: UFRJ.
- Macedo MN, DeFries R, Morton DC, Sticklerc CM, Galfordd GL, Shimabukuroe YE. 2012. Decoupling of deforestation and soy production in the southern Amazon during the late 2000s. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 109:4, p 1341-1346.
- MAPA. Ministério da Agricultura, Pecuária e Abastecimento. 2006. Cartilha do novo Serviço de Rastreabilidade da Cadeia Produtiva de Bovinos e Bubalinos (SISBOV). Brasília: SDC/ABIEC/CNA/ACERTA.
- Marfrig. 2013a. Livestock programs and sustainability. Institutional Presentation. São Paulo.
- Marfrig. 2013b. Marfrig Club. Available at <u>http://www.marfrig.com.br/rastreabilidade/</u>. Accessed on 19 September 2013.
- Marfrig. 2011. Marfrig Club production system verification check list. Marfrig Club.
- McAllister LK. 2008. Sustainable Consumption Governance in the Amazon. *Environmental Law Reporter* 38:10873 10881.

- McDermott C. 2012. Certification and equity: Applying an "equity framework" to compare certification schemes across product sectors and scales. *Environmental Science and Policy* 33:428-437.
- MCTI. Ministério da Ciência, Tecnologia e Inovação. 2013. *Estimativas anuais de emissões de gases de efeito estufa no Brasil*. Coordenação Geral de Mudanças Globais do Clima. Brasília, DF.
- MMA. Ministério do Meio Ambiente. 2013. Plano de Prevenção e Controle do Desmatamento na Amazônia (PPCDAm). Available from <u>http://www.mma.gov.br/florestas/controle-e-preven%C3%A7%C3%A3o-dodesmatamento/plano-de-a%C3%A7%C3%A3o-para-amaz%C3%B4nia-ppcdam</u>. Accessed on 24 September 2013.
- MPF. Ministério Público Federal. 2009. Proposta do MPF Proposta para Termos de Ajuste de Condutas. Procuradoria da República no Pará, July, 2009. Available from <u>http://www.senado.gov.br/comissoes/CRA/AP/AP20090702\_Jose\_Augusto\_Torres\_Potig</u> <u>uar.pdf</u>. Accessed on 24 September 2013.
- Nepstad DC, Stickler CM, Almeida OT. 2006. Globalization of the Amazon Soy and Beef Industries: Opportunities for Conservation. *Conservation Biology* 20 (6): 1595 – 1603.
- Nepstad DC, Stabile MCC, Azevedo A, Valentim JF, Mendoza E, Sá CP. 2012. Caderno Técnico Vol. 5 – Subsídios para um subprograma de intensificação da pecuária no Acre: uma análise estadual. Brasília, Brasil: Instituto de Pesquisa Ambiental da Amazônia. Available from <u>http://bit.ly/IPAM686</u>. Accessed on 19 September 2013
- Newton P, Agrawal A, Wollenberg L. 2013. Enhancing the sustainability of commodity supply chains in tropical forest and agricultural landscapes. *Global Environmental Change*. Available from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2013.08.004</u>. Accessed on 12 November 2013.
- Observatório do Plano ABC. 2013. *A evolução de um novo paradigma*. FGV. Available at <a href="http://www.observatorioabc.com.br/ckeditor">http://www.observatorioabc.com.br/ckeditor</a> assets/attachments/38/2013 06 28 relatorio <a href="http://www.observatorio.bc.pdf">estudo 1 observatorioabc.com.br/ckeditor</a> assets/attachments/38/2013 06 28 relatorio <a href="http://www.observatorio.bc.pdf">estudo 1 observatorioabc.com.br/ckeditor</a> assets/attachments/38/2013 06 28 relatorio
- Pinto LFG, McDermott C. 2013. Equity and forest certification A case study in Brazil. *Forest Policy and Economics* 30:23-29. Available at: ISSN 1389-9341, 10.1016/j.forpol.2013.03.002. Accessed on 12 November 2013.
- Pinto LFG, Gardner T, McDermott C, Omar K, Ayub L. In prep. Group Certification Increases Access to Coffee Producers in Brazil.
- Poisot AN, Speedy A, Kueneman E. 2004. Good Agricultural Practices a working concept. Background paper for the FAO Internal Workshop on Good Agricultural Practices. Rome, Italy. 27-29 October 2004.

- Prodes. 2013. Monitoramento da floresta amazônica brasileira por satellite. Ministério da Ciência e Tecnologia. Available from <u>http://www.obt.inpe.br/prodes/index.php</u>. Accessed on 24 September 2013.
- Programa Municípios Verdes. 2013. Available from http://municipiosverdes.com.br:8080/pmv/. Accessed on 24 September 2013
- Romero C, Putz FE, Guariguata MR, Sills EO, Cerutti PO, Lescuyer G. 2013. An overview of current knowledge about the impacts of forest management certification: A proposed framework for its evaluation. Occasional Paper 91. Bogor, Indonesia: CIFOR.
- SAN. Sustainable Agriculture Network. 2010. *Standard for sustainable cattle production systems*. San José, Costa Rica: Sustainable Agriculture Network.
- SAN. Sustainable Agriculture Network. 2011. *Climate Module Criteria for Mitigation and Adaptation to Climate Change*. San José, Costa Rica: Sustainable Agriculture Network.
- SAN. Sustainable Agriculture Network. 2013. Available from <u>http://sanstandards.org/sitio/subsections/display/2</u>. Accessed on 4 November 2013.
- Smeraldi R, May PH. 2008. O reino do gado: a nova expansão da pecuária na Amazônia brasileira. Amigos da Terra-Amazônia Brasileira. São Paulo.
- Smeraldi R, May PH. 2009. *A hora da conta: pecuária, amazônia e conjuntura*. Amigos da Terra-Amazônia Brasileira. São Paulo.
- Smith BG. 2008. Developing sustainable food supply chains. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B* 363:849–861.
- Smith P, Martino D, Cai Z, Gwary D, Janzen H, Kumar P, McCarl B, Ogle S, O'Mara F, Rice C, Scholes B, Sirotenko O. 2007. In Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Metz B, Davidson OR, Bosch PR, Dave R, Meyer LA(eds)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Steering Committee of the State-of-Knowledge Assessment of Standards and Certification. 2012. *Toward sustainability: The roles and limitations of certification*. Washington, DC: RESOLVE, Inc.
- Strassburg B, Micol L, Ramos F, Motta RS, Latawiec A, Lisauskas F. 2011. Increasing agricultural output while avoiding deforestation a case study for Mato Grosso, Brazil. Rio de Janeiro: The International Institute for Sustainability.
- Taylor PL. 2005. In the Market But Not of It: Fair Trade Coffee and Forest Stewardship Council Certification as Market-Based Social Change. *World Development* Vol. 33(1):129–147.
- TNC. The Nature Conservancy. 2013. Pecuária Legal: do campo à mesa. Available from <a href="http://portugues.tnc.org/por-que-a-tnc/trabalhamos-em-parceria/nossos-">http://portugues.tnc.org/por-que-a-tnc/trabalhamos-em-parceria/nossos-</a>

<u>apoiadores/pecuaria-legal-boas-escolhas-do-campo-a-mesa.xml</u>. Accessed on 24 September 2013.

- van der Werf GR, Morton DC, de Fries RS, Olivier JGJ, Kasibhatla PS, Jackson RB, Collatz GJ, Randerson JT. 2009. CO2 emissions from forest loss. *Nature Geoscience* 2:737-738.
- van Kootena GC, Nelson HW, Vertinsk I. 2005. Certification of sustainable forest management practices: a global perspective on why countries certify. *Forest Policy and Economics* 7:857–867.
- Walker NF, Patel SA, Kalif, KAB. 2013a. From Amazon pasture to the high street: deforestation and the Brazilian cattle product supply chain. *Tropical Conservation Science* 6(3):446-467. Available from <u>http://tropicalconservationscience.mongabay.com/content/v6/TCS-2013\_Vol\_6(3)\_446-</u> 467-Walker et al.pdf. Accessed on 12 November 2013.
- Walker N, Patel SA, Davies F, Milledge S, Hulse J. 2013b. *Demand-side interventions to reduce deforestation and forest degradation*. International Institute for Environment and Development. London.
- Walker N, Patel S, Davies F, Milledge S, Hulse J, Davey E. 2013c. Reducing "forest footprints": tackling demand for forest-risk commodities. Briefing at the International Institute for Environment and Development (IIED). London. UK.
- Wal-Mart Brasil. 2013. Sustainability Report. Barueri, São Paulo
- Wirsenius S, Azar C, Berndes G. 2010. How much land is needed for global food production under scenarios of dietary changes and livestock productivity increases in 2030? *Agricultural Systems* 103: 621-638.



RESEARCH PROGRAM ON Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security



The CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS) is a strategic initiative of CGIAR and the Earth System Science Partnership (ESSP), led by the International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT). CCAFS is the world's most comprehensive global research program to examine and address the critical interactions between climate change, agriculture and food security.

## For more information, visit www.ccafs.cgiar.org

Titles in this Working Paper series aim to disseminate interim climate change, agriculture and food security research and practices and stimulate feedback from the scientific community.



